Received 10/04/2022 05:00 PM

No. 22-CV-0239

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

META PLATFORMS, INC.,

Appellant,

 ν .

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Appellee.

On Appeal From The District of Columbia Superior Court Before The Honorable Anthony C. Epstein Case No. CA2-4450-21

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

JOSHUA S. LIPSHUTZ GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP 1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036-5306 (202) 955-8500 *Counsel for Oral Argument
RONALD C. MACHEN
GEORGE P. VARGHESE
ARI HOLTZBLATT
WILMER CUTLER PICKERING
HALE AND DORR LLP
1875 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20006
(202) 663-6000

October 4, 2022

RULE 28(A)(2)(A) STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

This appeal presents the important question whether the government can, consistent with the Stored Communications Act and the First Amendment, compel a provider of electronic communication services to disclose to the government the contents of users' online communications—unmasking anonymous users' identities in the process—using only an administrative subpoena. The case arises out of an investigation by the D.C. Office of the Attorney General ("OAG") into the adequacy of efforts by Meta Platforms, Inc. ("Meta") to fight misinformation posted on Facebook about the safety and efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines. The First Amendment precludes OAG from regulating Meta's efforts directly, because doing so would interfere with Meta's right to exercise editorial control and judgment over what content is published on the Facebook platform. E.g., Miami Herald Publ'g Co. v. Tornillo, 418 U.S. 241, 257-258 (1974). OAG accordingly couched its investigation as an inquiry into the truthfulness of Meta's public statements about the steps it has taken to combat COVID-19 vaccine misinformation. Invoking its authority under the D.C. Consumer Protection Procedures Act ("CPPA"), OAG issued an administrative subpoena demanding that Meta produce several categories of documents and information relating to its enforcement of its COVID-19 misinformation policies.

In response, Meta provided substantial information to enable OAG to evaluate the consistency of Meta's actions with its public statements—including information about the total volume of content that Meta has removed from or demoted on Facebook for violating its COVID-19 misinformation policies and the volume of such content reviewed or flagged for fact-checking review. But Meta concluded it could not comply with one request in the administrative subpoena. That request, referred to as Request #2, demands information revealing the identities of individuals or entities based on the content of their speech, specifically those who posted content concerning vaccines in violation of Meta's COVID-19 misinformation policies. It also seeks information on the nature of each violation and steps Meta took in response in each case. App. 4-5 ("Request #2"). That request violates the federal Stored Communications Act ("SCA"), 18 U.S.C. § 2703, which provides that OAG cannot rely on an administrative subpoena but instead must obtain a warrant to compel Meta to disclose the contents of user communications. Request #2 also violates the First Amendment—by interfering with Meta's exercise of protected editorial judgment and intruding into the rights of speech and association of Meta's users without satisfying exacting scrutiny.

The Superior Court nonetheless granted OAG's petition for enforcement of Request #2. In doing so, the court committed two significant legal errors, each of which independently requires reversal.

First, the Superior Court erred in holding that the SCA permits OAG to compel the information sought by Request #2 using only an administrative subpoena. The text, structure, and legislative history of the SCA all make clear that a governmental entity seeking to compel a provider of electronic communication services ("ECS") to disclose user communications must comply with Section 2703 of the SCA, which establishes the requirements for "[g]overnmental access to customer communications." Facebook, Inc. v. Pepe, 241 A.3d 248, 254 n.12 (D.C. 2020). And Section 2703 provides that a governmental entity "may require" disclosure of contents of communications "only pursuant to a warrant." 18 U.S.C. § 2703(a)(1). In holding otherwise, the Superior Court correctly recognized that Request #2 seeks contents of communications, but it concluded that the government may disregard the requirements of Section 2703 whenever a different section of the SCA, Section 2702, would permit the ECS provider to voluntarily disclose the communications based on the user's implicit consent. That reasoning would dramatically expand the government's power to unilaterally demand access to online communications, with far-reaching implications for millions of internet users. The Superior Court's holding finds no support in the SCA. It ignores Congress's intent to impose stringent standards to protect online communications against government intrusion. And it stands alone

among judicial decisions applying the SCA. This Court should reverse that erroneous and unprecedented holding.

Second, the Superior Court independently erred in holding that Request #2 satisfies the exacting scrutiny demanded by the First Amendment. Request #2 intrudes on protected First Amendment interests in two ways. It seeks to probe Meta's protected exercise of editorial control over user-submitted content it published on its privately owned website in violation of Meta's own First Amendment rights; and it threatens to chill the protected expression of Meta's users by compelling disclosure of the identities of people whose speech and associations OAG disfavors. Given these First Amendment implications, Request #2 must satisfy (at a minimum) exacting scrutiny. Contrary to the Superior Court's conclusion, however, Request #2 is in no way adequately tailored to any substantial governmental interest. OAG can readily achieve the purposes it claims to be pursuing in its investigation through alternative avenues without forcing disclosure of the identities of every user who posted vaccine-related content that violated a COVID-19 misinformation policy—disclosure that courts have long recognized to pose a harmful threat to protected expression. The implications of the Superior Court's ruling are not limited to COVID-19-related content. Under the reasoning adopted here, government officials who are hostile to speech about any topic—from immigration to climate change—could use a subpoena to demand

the identities of every Facebook user who posted on any of those topics, simply by purporting to conduct a consumer-protection investigation. The Court should reverse.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Superior Court had jurisdiction over OAG's motion to enforce the administrative subpoena under D.C. Code §§ 1-301.88d(d) and 28-3909(a). This Court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code. § 11-721(a)(1), which confers jurisdiction on this Court over "all final orders and judgments of the Superior Court of the District Columbia." Under *Kemp v. Gay*, 947 F.2d 1493 (D.C. Cir. 1991), an order enforcing an administrative subpoena concludes the only judicial proceeding before the court and is therefore "a final order ripe for review" on immediate appeal, with no order of contempt required. *See id.* at 1495-1497 (allowing immediate appeal of order enforcing administrative subpoena); *see also Crane v. Crane*, 657 A.2d 312, 315-316 (D.C. 1995) (recognizing that "discovery orders may be considered final and appealable where the discovery request is the only proceeding pending before the court").

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the Superior Court erred in holding that OAG, a governmental entity, can compel a service provider such as Meta to disclose the

contents of a user's communications without complying with the requirements set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2703, including the warrant requirement.

2. Whether the Superior Court erred in holding that Request #2 satisfies the exacting scrutiny demanded by the First Amendment for compulsory disclosure.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statutory Framework

Enacted as part of the Electronic Communications Privacy Act of 1986, Pub. L. No. 99-508, tit. II, 100 Stat. 1848, 1860, the Stored Communications Act ("SCA") extends "Fourth Amendment-like privacy protections" to stored electronic communications by "regulating the relationship between government investigators and service providers in possession of users' private information." Walker v. Coffey, 956 F.3d 163, 167 (3d Cir. 2020) (quoting Kerr, A User's Guide to the Stored Communications Act, and a Legislator's Guide to Amending It, 72 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 1208, 1212 (2004)). The SCA "provides this enhanced privacy protection" by limiting both "the government's ability to compel providers to disclose their users' information" and "the providers' ability to disclose such information to the government." Id. (citing 18 U.S.C. §§ 2702, 2703).

The SCA "broadly prohibits providers from disclosing the contents of covered communications" to anyone, "stating that providers 'shall not knowingly

divulge to any person or entity the contents' of covered communications, except as provided." *Facebook v. Wint*, 199 A.3d 625, 628 (D.C. 2019) (quoting 18 U.S.C. § 2702(a)(1)). Under Section 2702, entitled "[v]oluntary disclosure of customer communications or records," that prohibition is subject to nine enumerated exceptions in which a service provider "may" voluntarily disclose contents of communications. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 2702(b). As relevant here, an ECS provider "may divulge the contents of a communication" when the originator or the intended recipient has "lawful[ly] consent[ed]" to disclosure. *Id.* § 2702(b)(3). In addition, the provider "may divulge" contents of communications without violating Section 2702 when disclosure is "otherwise authorized" under other statutory provisions, including Section 2703.

Section 2703, entitled "[r]equired disclosure of customer communications or records," delineates when and how a "governmental entity" "may require" a service provider to disclose contents or records of an electronic communication, 18 U.S.C. § 2703(a). The procedures and standards a governmental entity must follow to compel disclosure depend on the nature of the information the government seeks to obtain. With respect to the "contents" of communications that have been in electronic storage for 180 days or less, the government "may require disclosure" by the service provider "only pursuant to a warrant." *Id.* As to contents of communications in storage for more than 180 days, Section 2703

likewise requires the government to obtain a "warrant" unless—in a statutory alternative that has been largely abrogated by Fourth Amendment case law—the government gives "prior notice" to the subscriber or customer. *Id.* § 2703(b).¹

In contrast, for non-content records, a governmental entity generally "may require" disclosure using either a warrant or a court order issued upon a lesser showing than probable cause. 18 U.S.C. § 2703(c)(1), (d). Alternatively, the government "may require" disclosure of such non-content records with the "consent of the subscriber or customer." *Id.* § 2703(c)(1)(C). If the government uses only an administrative subpoena or a trial or grand jury subpoena, without providing notice to the subscriber or customer, it can compel disclosure of only a limited category of basic subscriber information. *Id.* § 2703(c)(2).

The SCA's original distinction between communications in storage for more or less than 180 days has largely been abandoned, as courts and the U.S. Department of Justice now uniformly agree that people can have a reasonable expectation of privacy in their content regardless of how long the communication has been in storage. *See United States v. Warshak*, 631 F.3d 266, 288 (6th Cir. 2010); DOJ, *Searching and Seizing Computers and Obtaining Electronic Evidence in Criminal Investigations* 122-123 (2009) (noting that stored emails are "contents" under the SCA), https://www.justice.gov/file/442111/download; H.R. Rep. No. 114-528, at 9 (2016).

B. Factual Background

Meta offers an array of products and services to more than 2 billion users worldwide.² Among these services is Facebook:³ a website and app where users can maintain accounts,⁴ create Pages;⁵ gather to share status updates, stories, and other content on those Pages; browse for content through their News Feed;⁶ and advocate and fundraise for causes.⁷

To help Facebook remain a safe and useful space, Meta has adopted and enforces a series of policies that govern what content can be posted on the platform. After the COVID-19 pandemic began, Meta adopted policies that aim to "protect people from harmful content and new types of abuse related to COVID-19

² Clegg, Combating COVID-19 Misinformation Across Our Apps, META (Mar. 25, 2020) (describing Meta's work to provide 2 billion Facebook and Instagram users with resources from public-health authorities), https://about.fb.com/news/2020/03/combating-covid-19-misinformation/.

What are the Meta Products?, META, https://www.facebook.com/help/1561485474074139/.

⁴ Creating an Account, META, https://www.facebook.com/help/570785306433644/.

⁵ *Create and Manage a Page*, META, https://www.facebook.com/help/135275340210354/.

⁶ *Your Home Page*, META, https://www.facebook.com/help/753701661398957/.

⁷ See People Raise Over \$2 Billion for Causes on Facebook, META (Feb. 6, 2020), https://about.fb.com/news/2019/09/2-billion-for-causes/.

and vaccines."8 One such policy states that Meta removes content that repeats other false health information "that [has been] widely debunked by leading health organizations such as the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)." The policy also states that Meta will "remove content containing links to off-platform content" that it identifies as violating its COVID-19 and vaccine misinformation rules, and "remove any Pages, Groups, Events, Or Instagram Accounts" that "instruct or encourage users to employ code words when discussing vaccines or COVID-19 to evade [Meta's] detection."¹⁰ Meta uses artificial intelligence ("AI") systems to detect when someone tries to share content flagged as COVID-19 misinformation. ¹¹ Meta also shows "strong warning labels and notifications" to people who come across the false information Meta has identified or try to share it. 12 By adopting these policies, Meta aims to "combat misinformation about vaccines and diseases,"

_

See, e.g., COVID-19 and Vaccine Policy Updates & Protections, META, https://www.facebook.com/help/230764881494641/.

⁹ *Id*.

¹⁰ *Id*.

Using AI to Detect COVID-19 Misinformation and Exploitative Content, META AI, (May 12, 2020), https://ai.facebook.com/blog/using-ai-to-detect-covid-19-misinformation-and-exploitative-content/.

Clegg, Combatting COVID-19 Misinformation Across Our Apps, supra note 2.

which it believes could result in reduced vaccinations and harm public health and safety.¹³

Dissatisfied with the "extent of Facebook's efforts to combat vaccine misinformation" and Meta's "public statements" regarding those efforts, Super. Ct. - Mem. in Support of Pet. ("Pet. Mem.") 2 (Nov. 30, 2021), OAG launched an investigation into whether Meta's "handling of COVID-19 vaccine information posted on its social media platform" violates the CPPA. App. 7. As the predicate for this investigation, OAG cited several statements in which Meta offered qualitative descriptions of general steps it intended to take to restrict vaccinerelated misinformation, such as describing its decision to demote, rather than remove, certain vaccine-related misinformation as a "break the glass" measure, and pledging to "immediately" enforce a new and broader definition of vaccine misinformation "with a particular focus on Pages, groups, and accounts that violate these rules." Pet. Mem. 4. OAG also cited the following statement concerning Meta's efforts to combat COVID-19 misinformation—not just vaccine-related information—as a whole: "Since the beginning of the pandemic, across our entire platform, we have removed over 3,000 accounts, Pages, and groups for repeatedly

⁻

¹³ *COVID-19 and Vaccine Policy Updates & Protections*, META, *supra* note 8.

violating our rules against spreading COVID-19 and vaccine misinformation and removed more than 20 million pieces of content for breaking these rules."¹⁴

OAG identified no quantitative statements concerning Meta's enforcement of its misinformation policies specific to COVID-19 vaccines, such as statements about the number of vaccine-related violations or statements about Meta's enforcement decisions in particular cases. To the contrary, OAG has admitted that "with respect to COVID-19 vaccine misinformation in particular"—the sole subject of the government's investigation—"Facebook has not publicly disclosed the total volume of content reviewed, identified as false, demoted, or removed, or the total number of accounts, pages, and groups suspended or banned." Pet. Mem. 5. According to OAG, Meta's qualitative public statements about its general plans for limiting vaccine-related misinformation entitle OAG to investigate not only the subjects of those statements, but also specific decisions and actions that Meta has taken in tens and potentially hundreds of thousands or millions of particular cases with respect to individual users regarding vaccine-related misinformation.

On June 21, 2021, OAG issued an administrative subpoena ordering Meta to produce various categories of documents. In response, Meta provided information

Bickert, *How We're Taking Action Against Vaccine Misinformation Superspreaders*, META, (Aug. 18, 2021), https://about.fb.com/news/2021/08/taking-action-against-vaccinemisinformation-superspreaders/.

to OAG about its continued efforts to enforce terms-of-service violations related to the spread of COVID-19 misinformation on the Facebook platform and produced information and documents in response to several of OAG's requests. For example, Meta provided information in response to OAG's request for "the total volume of content that has been removed or demoted by Facebook for violating Facebook's COVID-19 misinformation policy with respect to content concerning vaccines." App. 5 ("Request #3"). And Meta likewise provided information about the "volume of content" related to COVID-19 misinformation that Meta had reviewed and taken action against (or had in queue for review) throughout the first half of 2021. *Id.* ("Request #4").

However, Meta objected to producing documents in response to Request #2, which demanded "documents sufficient to identify all Facebook groups, pages, and accounts that have violated Facebook's COVID-19 misinformation policies with respect to content concerning vaccines," including the identities of individuals or entities associated with those groups, pages, or accounts, the nature of the violation, and Facebook's response. App. 4-5. Meta objected on the ground that the request violates the SCA because identifying users whose posts Meta had determined violated its COVID-19 misinformation policies would disclose the

As Meta has repeatedly informed OAG, Meta does not separately track COVID-19 misinformation specific to vaccines in particular.

contents of the users' communications, and as Meta explained, pursuant to Section 2703 of the SCA, the government may compel disclosure of contents only by using a warrant—not, as here, an administrative subpoena.¹⁶

C. Procedural History

OAG filed a petition for enforcement of Request #2 of the administrative subpoena. App. 7. In opposition, Meta maintained that Request #2 violates the SCA because OAG did not obtain a warrant, as required by Section 2703. Super. Ct. Opp. - To Pet. for Enforcement 3-15 (Jan. 31, 2022). Meta further maintained that Request #2 violates the First Amendment. With respect to the First Amendment, Meta contended that disclosing the identity of users whose posts had violated Meta's COVID-19 misinformation policies would chill their speech and so would violate the users' First Amendment rights. And furthermore, Meta objected that compelling it to produce granular information about how it exercised editorial control over vaccine misinformation on its platform in potentially millions of specific cases would infringe Meta's own First Amendment rights.

The Superior Court (Epstein, J.) granted the petition in part. The court first agreed with Meta that Request #2 seeks the "contents" of user communications and thus triggers the SCA's robust protections against required disclosure of such material to the government. App. 19. As the court explained, the statutory

14

Meta preserved other objections as well that are not at issue here.

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