No. 22-CV-239

Clerk of the Court Received 11/17/2022 04:51 PM Filed 11/17/2022 04:51 PM

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

META PLATFORMS, INC., Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

# **BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA**

KARL A. RACINE Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

\*STACY L. ANDERSON Senior Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-6625 stacy.anderson2@dc.gov

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

# **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The Court should affirm the Superior Court's determination that OAG can compel the content it seeks with a subpoena rather than a warrant under the SCA.

*First*, the SCA's protections do not apply to public content—and public content is all that Facebook has been ordered to produce here. The SCA expressly provides that its protections do not apply when an "electronic communication is readily accessible to the general public." 18 U.S.C. § 2511(2)(g)(i). The Act's legislative history confirms Congress's clear intent not to protect public content. And courts have recognized as much, concluding that there can be no violation of the SCA unless the content at issue is unavailable to the public.

*Second*, even if the SCA applies to public content, its warrant requirement does not. Section 2702(b) lists instances when providers may disclose otherwise protected information, and subsection (b)(3) covers information disclosed with a user's consent. Facebook agrees that the information OAG seeks falls within this exception. And this Court has already held in *Pepe* that a provider must turn over information that falls within a Section 2702(b) exception in response to a subpoena by a private party.

There is no indication that the government is subject to a different, special rule. To be sure, Section 2703 generally requires the government to obtain a warrant. But this Court should read that provision in harmony with Section 2702(b), which explicitly permits disclosure to the government in certain circumstances. Moreover, reading the SCA to require a warrant here runs contrary to the Act's purposes and The purpose of the SCA is to afford Fourth would lead to absurd results. Amendment protections to electronic communications just as that Amendment otherwise would apply. But the Fourth Amendment does not protect public information, and consent is a well-settled exception to the warrant requirement. Moreover, Facebook's interpretation would create a special carve-out for the government that would require it to get a warrant for information that a private party could obtain by subpoena. It would also effectively insulate providers like Facebook and Twitter from most civil investigations concerning public representations about content on their platforms. Nothing in the SCA compels these incongruous results.

*Third*, if the warrant requirement applies, OAG's request did not trigger it because the subpoena does not "require the disclosure" of user content. Rather, the content OAG seeks has already been divulged to the public. In complying with the

subpoena, then, Facebook will not have to disclose any new content, but only acknowledge an earlier disclosure—something the SCA in no way forbids.

2. Facebook's First Amendment challenges also lack merit. Before a court subjects a subpoena to exacting scrutiny, the party claiming a privilege must make a prima facie showing that the subpoena infringes on its First Amendment rights. Facebook has not made that showing, either as to itself or its users.

Regarding itself, OAG is investigating Facebook's commercial speech-its own statements about its efforts to combat COVID-19 vaccine misinformation on its platform. Facebook never claims that OAG's investigation has a chilling effect on, or restrains, this speech. Instead, Facebook maintains that OAG is acting in bad faith to target its editorial control over its platform. Not so. A party alleging bad faith carries a heavy burden to prove that an agency, not just an employee, issued a subpoena for an improper reason. Facebook has presented no evidence, let alone sufficient evidence, to prove institutional bad faith. In any event, its claim that OAG's investigation infringes on its right to content moderation is baseless. Facebook relies on cases where the government either compelled speech, barred the exercise of editorial discretion, or targeted the speech for which protection was sought. OAG's investigation does none of these things; it simply seeks to confirm that Facebook is complying with its own public representations about its vaccine misinformation policy.

Facebook relies on another series of mischaracterizations when claiming that OAG's subpoena infringes on the First Amendment rights of its users, asserting that OAG is targeting its users based on disfavored speech and attempting to unmask those who wish to remain anonymous. Not so. OAG is not targeting Facebook users, nor could it under the CPPA. It is investigating Facebook and its statements about its vaccine misinformation policies. What is more, Facebook has offered no evidence, as it must, to show that OAG's investigation will have a chilling effect on users' speech. Nor could it. Because the users have spoken and identified themselves publicly, they have acted outside of any zone of protection, and OAG's investigation does not chill or abridge their First Amendment rights. Finally, no anonymous users will be "unmasked" because the Superior Court's order forbids it.

Even if Facebook had made a prima facie showing of a First Amendment infringement against itself or its users, OAG's subpoena survives exacting scrutiny. Facebook agrees that OAG has a legitimate interest in consumer protection, but claims it is not implicated here because it has made no statements about the *quantity* of COVID-19 vaccine misinformation it has removed. That is irrelevant. OAG's focus is not on the accuracy of Facebook's statements about the amount of content it has removed; its focus is on Facebook's statements about its enforcement of its vaccine misinformation policy, including the content it has *failed* to remove despite its pledges.

Finally, OAG's subpoena is narrowly tailored to its important interest in consumer protection. OAG needs the identity of Facebook users to assess Facebook's response to repeat offenders and those who have been publicly identified as responsible for much of the misinformation on its platform. Anonymized information will not permit OAG to make this assessment. Instead, the Superior Court correctly found that there is no less intrusive means for OAG to accomplish its investigative goals.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The SCA Does Not Preclude OAG From Compelling The Production Of Public Content With A Subpoena.

# A. The SCA does not apply to protect public information, but only information the user intends to be private.

The plain text of the SCA, its legislative history, and case law make clear that the SCA does not apply to public information, which is all that the court ordered be produced here. When assessing the meaning of any statute, the Court begins with the text. *Peoples Drug Stores, Inc. v. District of Columbia*, 470 A.2d 751, 753 (D.C. 1983). If the language is clear and unambiguous, the Court should give effect to its plain meaning unless there are "persuasive reasons" to look beyond it. *Id.* at 755 (internal quotation marks omitted). Here the text of the SCA is unambiguous: it does not apply to preclude *anyone* access to public content. Federal law provides:

(g) It shall not be unlawful under this chapter or chapter 121 of this title [(the SCA)] for any person—

(i) to intercept or access an electronic communication made through an electronic communication system that is configured so that such electronic communication *is readily accessible to the general public*.

18 U.S.C. § 2511(2)(g)(i) (emphasis added). "The language of the statute makes clear that the statute's purpose is to protect information that the communicator took steps to keep private," not Facebook posts configured by users to be public. *Ehling v. Monmouth-Ocean Hosp. Serv. Corp.*, 961 F. Supp. 2d 659, 668 (D.N.J. 2013); *see Crispin v. Christian Audigier, Inc.*, 717 F. Supp. 2d 965, 981 (C.D. Cal. 2010) ("[A] completely public [bulletin board service] does not merit protection under the SCA.").<sup>31</sup>

<sup>31</sup> Although not citing to 18 U.S.C. § 2511(2)(g)(i) below, OAG has consistently argued throughout this litigation that the SCA does not apply to publicly disclosed communications. OAG's Mem. in Support of Pet. for Enforcement 12 ("[A]s case law and legislative history make clear, the SCA was not intended to protect publicly disclosed communications."); OAG's Reply ISO Pet. for Enforcement 10 (filed Feb. 22, 2022) (asserting that the SCA's purpose is to protect information that the consumer intended to keep private). This statutory argument, as well as arguments about the applicability of the SCA warrant requirement to public information, are simply further evidence of that claim regarding the SCA's scope. See Tindle v. United States, 778 A.2d 1077, 1082 (D.C. 2001) ("[T]he Supreme Court of the United States and this court have distinguished between 'claims' and 'arguments,' holding that although 'claims' not presented in the trial court will be forfeited (and thus subject to the plain error review standard), parties on appeal are not limited to the precise arguments they made in the trial court." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

The legislative history confirms what the statute plainly says. See Facebook, Inc. v. Wint, 199 A.3d 625, 628 (D.C. 2019) (looking to legislative history to confirm that an interpretation accords with legislative intent). In enacting the SCA, Congress "repeatedly focused on the public/private theme" when explaining the purpose of the legislation. Facebook, Inc. v. Superior Ct., 417 P.3d 725, 739-40 (Cal. 2018). In Congress's view, "[t]o access a communication in such a public [electronic bulletin board] system is not a violation of the Act, since the general public has been 'authorized' to do so by the facility provider." S. Rep. 36; see H.R. Rep. 62 (same). Congress intended that "[t]hose wire or electronic communications which the service provider attempts to keep confidential would be protected, while the statute would impose no liability for access to features configured to be readily accessible to the general public." H.R. Rep. 63; see S. Rep. 35 (addressing the "problem of deliberately gaining unauthorized persons access to . . . electronic . . . communications that are not intended to be available to the public.").

Thus, for *public* information, it is simply incorrect to say—as Facebook does—that "Section 2703(a) 'provides requirements for the government to obtain the contents of an electronic communication" or that "[a] government entity can *only gain access* to the contents of such an electronic communication pursuant to a warrant." Br. 26 (quoting S. Rep. 38); *see* Br. 3 (asserting that the government may only "access" consumer communications with a warrant). Instead, the SCA puts a

governmental entity on par with the public when it comes to accessing public communications in electronic storage. That is, the SCA imposes no restriction on its ability to do so.

Case law confirms this understanding of the SCA. Courts have recognized that "the requirement that the electronic communication not be readily accessible by the general public is *material and essential* to recovery under the SCA." Snow v. DirecTV, Inc., 450 F.3d 1314, 1321 (11th Cir. 2006) (emphasis added). Thus, "the SCA covers: (1) electronic communications, (2) that were transmitted via an electronic communication service, (3) that are in electronic storage, and (4) that are not public." Ehling, 961 F. Supp. 2d at 667 (emphasis added). There can be no violation of the SCA for disclosing content configured to be publicly available. See Combier v. Portelos, No. 17-CV-2239 (MKB), 2018 WL 3302182, at \*13 (E.D.N.Y. July 5, 2018) ("Courts have held that information is protected by the SCA only if the plaintiff restricts access to the electronic communication."), R. & R. adopted, 2018 WL 4678577 (E.D.N.Y. Sept. 29, 2018), aff'd, 788 F. App'x 774 (2d Cir. 2019); Burke v. New Mexico, No. 16-CV-0470 MCA/SMV, 2018 WL 3054674, at \*8 (D.N.M. June 20, 2018) ("[A]n SCA violation cannot flow from accessing a stored communication that was not made private.").<sup>32</sup>

Because OAG seeks only public content, the SCA neither subjects Facebook to liability nor imposes a barrier to it being compelled to produce user and correctiveaction information in response to an administrative subpoena. *See Airbnb, Inc. v. City of Bos.*, 386 F. Supp. 3d 113, 124 (D. Mass. 2019) (SCA does not prohibit compelling "Airbnb to provide . . . information appearing in its public listings for Boston rental properties—specifically, the location description a host has provided in the listing, and whether the listed accommodation is a room or an entire unit"); *Louis Vuitton Malletier, S.A. v. Akanoc Sols., Inc.*, No. C 07-03952 JW, 2008 WL 3200822, at \*1 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 7, 2008) ("Defendants . . . are only required to disclose information that the third-parties have made available to the public.").<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Notably, courts that have disagreed with this interpretation of the SCA have nevertheless permitted the disclosure of public information under Section 2702(b). *See Facebook, Inc.*, 417 P.3d at 743-44 ("Under this view, which appears to have been endorsed by some commentators, the Act simply would not cover or protect communications that have been configured to be public. We do not endorse this reading of the Act, however. Instead, we conclude that, by virtue of section 2702(a), the Act generally and initially prohibits the disclosure of *all* (even public) communications—but that section 2702(b)(3)'s subsequent lawful consent exception allows providers to disclose communications configured by the user to be public." (footnote omitted)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> The Superior Court's order covers both information that remains publicly available on Facebook and information configured to be publicly available by users, but that Facebook has subsequently removed. Facebook has not suggested, let alone

# **B.** Even if the SCA applies to public content, Congress intended the warrant requirement to apply only to private information.

Assuming that the SCA applies to public content, OAG can obtain the information it seeks without a warrant because the warrant requirement is not the exclusive path for the government to obtain information. Rather, Section 2702(b)(3) permits a provider to divulge the contents of a communication "with the lawful consent of the originator or an addressee or intended recipient of such communication." The information OAG seeks falls within this exception. Because it was publicly posted with user consent, OAG necessarily has the "lawful consent" of the "originator." At the very least, it has the "lawful consent" of the "intended recipient of such communication"; because the posts were public, "recipient" refers to everyone, OAG included. Facebook agrees, conceding that it could "voluntarily" produce this information if it chose without a warrant. Br. 25 & n.21.

Despite Section 2702(b)'s use of the term "may," 18 U.S.C. § 2702(b) ("a provider . . . *may* divulge" (emphasis added)), this Court has already held that a provider *must* comply with a subpoena if a Section 2702(b) exception applies. In

argued, that the public information it deleted but maintains on its servers should be treated as any more private than the public information that remains on its platform today. In both instances, the *user* configured the information to be public, Facebook disclosed it to the public, and there is no reason to think that by removing the posts, Facebook wiped it from the public domain. *See*, *e.g.*, Trump Twitter Archive, https://www.thetrumparchive.com (archiving former President Donald Trump's tweets, although Twitter deleted his account) (last visited Nov. 7, 2022).

Pepe, a criminal defendant subpoenaed Facebook to produce content from his own account, including communications from others, that was no longer available to him. 241 A.3d at 251-52. Noting the "weighty and well-settled presumption against inferring that Congress silently intended to foreclose or restrict the availability of a core component of the judicial process such as the subpoena power," the Court found no congressional intent to prohibit a subpoena where the (b)(3) consent exception applied to expressly permit disclosure. Id. at 257 (emphasis omitted). Instead, the Section 2702(b) exceptions "remove th[e] barrier to subpoen acompliance and enable service providers to comply with compulsory process." Id.; cf. Wint, 199 A.3d at 629 (holding conversely that a criminal defendant cannot subpoena content where none of the Section 2702(b) exceptions applies). Said another way, Section 2702 does "not purport to authorize providers to refuse to [disclose communications] at their own option, let alone to vest them with a novel privilege to withhold evidence from discovery for any or no reason." Pepe, 241 A.3d at 257.

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